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matter?

MR. MEHOCHKO: Just that that was the same
argument that was made in Raupp and the Raupp court
rejected the idea.

THE COURT: I will adapt the government's
position on this. I think the application note is
read in conjunction with its explanation, as to what
it includes. I do believe that there is a point to
be made for that Mr. Mehochko makes that in the
alternative. The alternative argument also does
make some sense. And would be adopted as well, but
doesn't need to be. I think the application note is
not in conflict or inconsistent with.

Okay. With that in mind, we will move on to
two as being withdrawn; is that correct,

Mr. Mullins?

MR. MULLINS: Correct.

THE COURT: All right. Jump ahead to number
four.

What's the objection to the position -- four
is not at issue anymore. He is going to get the
three-level reduction for acceptance, or do you feel
like three has to be argued first?

MR. MEHOCHKO: I don't think it has to be

argued first, Judge, to the extent that -- well,
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based on the defendant’s race, or which
exceeds the statutory maximum for the
defendant’s particular crime. See Adkins,
743 F.3d at 192-93 (citing United States v.
Bownes, 405 F.3d 634, 637 (7th Cir. 2005)).
For example, in Adkins the defendant’s
sentence included a special condition that
prohibited “view[ing] or listen[ing] to” cer-
tain materials “or patroniz[ing] locations
where such material is available,” which
this court invalidated as unconstitutionally
vague and overbroad. 743 F.3d at 194.
That is far afield from the detailed and
substantiated restitution figure Johnson
opposes.

[10] There is no fundamental error
here. At the plea and sentencing hearing,
the district court reviewed with Johnson in
detail what the appeal waiver meant. The
court also gave examples of reasons that
Johnson could still appeal despite the waiv-
er, such as prosecutorial misconduct or a
retroactive beneficial amendment to the
sentencing guidelines. Johnson said he un-
derstood it would be difficult to pursue
such an appeal and acknowledged the slim
chances of success. And in exchange for
his promises in the plea agreement—in-
cluding the appeal waiver—Johnson ob-
tained dismissal of seven of the eight
counts in the indictment. See United States
v. Wenger, 58 F.3d 280, 282 (7th Cir. 1995)
(“[Defendant] exchanged the right to ap-
peal for prosecutorial concessions; he can-
not have his cake and eat it too.”)

Next, Johnson claims he did not inten-
tionally relinquish any arguments about
the restitution amount. We construe waiv-
er principles liberally in favor of defen-
dants. United States v. Jaimes-Jaimes,
406 F.3d 845, 847 (Tth Cir. 2005) (citations
omitted). But the topic of restitution arose
approximately twenty times during the
plea and sentencing hearing. Though John-
son spoke numerous times during the
nearly one-hour hearing, he did not object
to his absence from the in-chambers meet-
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ing, or to the court’s statement that the
dispute about the restitution amount had
been resolved. Despite numerous opportu-
nities to dispute the amount of restitution
owed, Johnson never spoke up to contest
that figure.

Indeed, shortly after Johnson was
placed under oath, he expressly agreed to
the precise restitution amount of
$211,428.80. So even if the appeal waiver
did not preclude this argument, the record
of the plea and sentencing hearing shows
Johnson deliberately abandoned his posi-
tion that the restitution figure should be
less. See United States v. Hathaway, 882
F.3d 638, 642 (7th Cir. 2018) (holding de-
fendant waived and did not just forfeit any
objections to calculation of restitution
amount).

In sum, Johnson's circumstances do not
present a due process exception to the rule
that most written appeal waivers are effec-
tive. Although there are limits to an appeal
waiver, see Bownes, 405 F.3d at 637, John-
son does not fall outside them.

Johnson’s appeal waiver resolves this
case. For the reasons discussed, we Dis-
Miss this appeal.

w
o E KEY NUMBER SYSFEM
¥

UNITED STATES of America,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v,

Steven A. ADAMS, Defendant-
Appellant.

No. 18-2932

United States Court of Appeals,
Seventh Circuit.

Argued May 16, 2019
Decided August 20, 2019

Background: Defendant pled guilty in the
United States District Court for the Cen-

-App.2-



US. v. ADAMS

721

Cite as 934 F.3d 720 (7th Cir. 2019)

tral Distriet of Illinois, No. 4:17-CR-40062,
James E. Shadid, Chief Judge, to being
felon in possession of firearm, and he ap-
pealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Hamil-
ton, Circuit Judge, held that:

(1) probable cause supported warrant for
search of defendant’s residence;

(2) evidence seized during search fell with-
in scope good faith exception to exclu-
sionary rule; and

(3) defendant’s Illinois methamphetamine
conspiracy conviction was “controlled
substance offense” under Sentencing
Guidelines.

Affirmed.

1. Searches and Seizures ¢200

When reviewing search warrant,
Court of Appeals gives great deference to
issuing judge's determination so long as
judge had substantial basis for finding.
U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

2. Criminal Law ¢=1139

Court of Appeals gives no deference
to—i.e., reviews de novo—district court’s
finding that there was substantial basis for
issuing search warrant. U.S. Const.
Amend. 4.

3. Criminal Law ¢=1139

Court of Appeals reviews de novo
whether good-faith exception applies to
search warrant later found to be invalid.
U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

4. Searches and Seizures ¢=40.1

Probable cause exists when circum-
stances indicate reasonable probability
that evidence of crime will be found in
particular location; neither absolute cer-
tainty nor even preponderance of evidence
is necessary. U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

5. Searches and Seizures &108

Where affidavit is only evidence pre-
sented to judge to support search warrant,
warrant's validity rests solely on affidavit's
strength. U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

6. Searches and Seizures €117
When informant is source of informa-
tion in search warrant affidavit, probable-

cause determination turns on informant’s
credibility. U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

7. Searches and Seizures =117, 121.1

In determining whether information
provided by informant was sufficiently
credible to establish probable cause for
issuing search warrant, court should con-
sider all relevant circumstances, including:
(1) degree to which informant acquired
knowledge of events through firsthand ob-
servation; (2) detail and specificity of infor-
mation provided by informant; (3) interval
between date of events and police officer’s
application for search warrant; and (4) ex-
tent to which law enforcement corroborat-
ed informant’s statements, U.S. Const.
Amend. 4.

8. Controlled Substances ¢=148(1)
Searches and Seizures <116

Probable cause supported warrant for
search of defendant’s residence, where
sheriff’s deputy’s affidavit disclosed infor-
mant’s name, explained her close relation-
ship with defendant and her connection to
house, and explained that she had been in
house earlier that day, informant provided
police with detailed, firsthand information
about criminal activity in house, including
description of handgun, gun case's color,
and color of safe that contained metham-
phetamine pipes and possibly methamphet-
amine and marijuana, and gave key to safe
to police, police had discovered drugs and
paraphernalia in informant’s car in which
defendant was passenger, and police ap-
plied for, received, and executed search
warrant on day that defendant and infor-
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mant were arrested. U.S. Const. Amend.
4,

9. Criminal Law ¢=392.38(7)

Suppression of evidence seized pursu-
ant to search warrant that is later declared
invalid is inappropriate if officers who exe-
cuted warrant relied in good faith on issu-
ing judge’s finding of probable cause.
U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

10. Criminal Law €=392.49(8)

Officer’s decision to obtain warrant is
prima facie evidence that officer was act-
ing in good faith. U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

11. Criminal Law €=392.49(2)

Defendant can rebut presumption that
officer was acting in good faith when exe-
cuting search warrant in several ways, in-
cluding by showing that affidavit submit-
ted in support of warrant was so lacking in
indicia of probable cause as to render offi-
cial belief in its existence entirely unrea-
sonable. U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

12. Criminal Law €=392.38(12)

Sheriff's deputies acted in good faith
when they executed warrant for search of
defendant’s residence, and thus evidence
seized during search fell within scope good
faith exception to exclusionary rule in de-
fendant’s prosecution for being felon in
possession of firearm, where warrant had
substantial support from results of traffic
stop of vehicle in which defendant was
passenger, during which police discovered
drugs and paraphernalia, defendant’s crim-
inal history, anonymous tips regarding
drug activity at residence, and detailed and
fresh information from defendant’s girl-
friend about gun and drugs at residence.
U.S. Const. Amend. 4.

13. Criminal Law ©=1139

Court of Appeals reviews de novo
claims of procedural errors in sentencing,
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including district court’s legal interpreta-
tion of Sentencing Guidelines.

14, Sentencing and Punishment €793

Defendant’s Illinois methamphetamine
conspiracy conviction was “controlled sub-
stance offense” under Sentencing Guide-
line setting base offense level in sentencing
defendant for being felon in possession of
firearm. U.S.S.G. §§ 4B1.2(a), 2K2.1(2)(4).

Sec publication Words and Phrases

for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

Appeal from the United States District
Court for the Central District of Illinois.
No. 4:17-CR-40062 — James E. Shadid,

Judge.

Greggory R. Walters, Attorney, OF-
FICE OF THE UNITED STATES AT-
TORNEY, Peoria, IL, for Plaintiff-Appel-
lee.

Brian P. Mullins, Attorney, OFFICE
OF THE FEDERAL PUBLIC DE-
FENDER, Rock Island, IL, for Defen-
dant-Appellant.

Before Bauer, Hamilton, and St. Eve,
Circuit Judges.

HAMILTON, Circuit Judge.

Defendant Steven Adams pleaded guilty
to being a felon in possession of a firearm.
In this appeal, he challenges the district
court’s denial of his motion to suppress
and its application of the Sentencing
Guidelines to his case. We affirm. Probable
cause supported the search warrant for
Adams’ house, and in any event the offi-
cers could rely on the warrant in good
faith. Further, the district court properly
calculated Adams’ guideline range, taking
into account his prior drug conspiracy con-
viction.
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I. Factual & Procedural Background

On March 22, 2016, Adams, his girl-
friend, and a third person were pulled over
for speeding. The car was registered to
Adams’ girlfriend, Leanna Brandon. Law
enforcement officers were familiar with
Adams because he was the subject of
anonymous tips regarding drug activity at
his house in Keithsburg, Illinocis. They also
knew that Adams had a previous convic-
tion for conspiracy to distribute metham-
phetamine. The third person in the car was
also the subject of anonymous tips regard-
ing drug activity and had outstanding ar-
rest warrants.

During the traffic stop, the sheriff’s
deputy smelled marijuana from the car.
The car was searched, and deputies found
a meth pipe, paraphernalia used with mar-
ijuana, and marijuana. The three occu-
pants were arrested and taken back to the
station, where Brandon—after receiving
Miranda warnings—told the arresting
deputy that additional items of drug para-
phernalia, a gun, and a safe containing
methamphetamine pipes were at Adams’
house. Brandon told the deputy that she
also stayed in the house and that she had
been there earlier that same day. She de-
scribed the layout of the house and provid-
ed descriptions of Adams’ bedroom and
the gun and paraphernalia.

In his application for a search warrant,
the deputy wrote:

Brandon disclosed that at Adam’s resi-
dence, at [street address], there is often
meth and cannabis used. Brandon stays
at the residence, and is familiar with the
goings on there. She said that there is
drug paraphernalia for ingestion of can-
nabis and methamphetamine in the
house.

Brandon went into great detail of Adams
bedroom where she sleeps when she
stays. She said she was last there at
around 0430 hours this morning

(03/22/2016). She described Adams’ room
as being in the northwest corner of the
house and drew a floor plan of the
house. She drew an enlargement of
Adams’ room. She described a dresser
with a mirror on the west wall of the
bedroom. She said that on that dresser,
there is always a clear glass bong. She
has seen it used to ingest cannabis. She
said the bowl part of it is not on it, but it
does have residue in it. She also said
that there is a colorful swirled designed
“bowl]” that looks like an elephant; this is
used for ingestion of cannabis on a
nightstand next to the bed. She said that
her .45 caliber Smith and Wesson pistol
is in the house. It has a cable lock in it
and she has the only keys. She said the
pistol is black and is in the blue plastic
case. She said there is a gray/black col-
ored safe in the bedroom. Inside that
safe is meth pipes, and maybe some
meth and cannabis.

Brandon said Adams’ bedroom is locked
with a deadbolt. She said that only she
and Adams have keys. She said that only
Adams and she have the keys for the
safe in the bedroom, and she provided
me one from her purse.

She said that there may be other para-
phernalia in the house. She said that
[Female] and [Male] stay in a bedroom
next to Adams. She said that [Female]
frequently “huffs” hair spray and has
expressed her displeasure of the aerosol
odor in the house to [Female]). This
agency has also received recent informa-
tion about [Male] being at the residence.
{Male] had a history for possession of
narcotics through Iowa.

Based on the results of the traffic stop
search, Adams’ prior conviction, the anony-
mous tips, and the information from Bran-
don, the police obtained a search warrant
for Adams’ house from a state-court judge.
They executed the warrant the same day
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as the traffic stop. In Adams’ room, they
found a locked plastic gun case that Bran-
don had described. A .45 caliber Smith &
Wesson handgun and two loaded maga-
zines were inside the case. Adams later
admitted that he had Brandon buy the gun
for him because he was a felon.

A federal grand jury charged Adams
with unlawful possession of a firearm by a
felon, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g).
Adams moved to suppress the evidence
discovered pursuant to the state search
warrant, contending that the affidavit in
support of the application did not establish
probable cause. He also argued that the
good-faith exception to the exclusionary
rule should not apply because the affidavit
was so lacking in probable cause that a
reasonable officer could not have relied on
the warrant.

The district court ruled from the bench
and denied Adams’ motion to suppress.
The court explained that the issuing judge
had a “substantial basis for determining
the existence of probable cause” because
Brandon had “provided firsthand detail,”
the information was “fresh” as it “was
within a day” since she had been at the
house, and the information was “in some
form corroborated by the number of tips.”
The court noted that the tips were anony-
mous and that standing alone they would
not establish probable cause. But the court
explained that the tips provided some cor-
roboration in conjunction with the other
information. The court also highlighted the
traffic stop of the “vehicle that invoived
drugs” and noted that, “to some degree,”
Brandon’s statements to the deputy were
“against her penal interest.” The court
concluded: “So, I believe that all of this
provides plenty of information for the es-
tablishment of probable cause. If it didn't,
I do believe there is no question that there
is good faith here.”
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Adams pleaded guilty to the indictment,
reserving his right to appeal the denial of
his motion to suppress. At sentencing,
Adams objected to the probation officer’s
use of a base offense level of 20 under
§ 2K2.1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines,
arguing that his Illinois methamphetamine
conspiracy conviction should not count as a
“controlled substance offense” because it
was conviction for only conspiracy, not ac-
tually distributing or manufacturing the
drug. Section 2K2.1(a)(4) of the Guidelines
sets a base offense level of 20 for a defen-
dant who violates 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) “sub-
sequent to sustaining one felony conviction
of ... a controlled substance offense.”
“Controlled substance offense” is not de-
fined in the Guideline itself, but the com-
mentary to that guideline states that the
phrase has the same meaning as it does in
§ 4B1.2(b) and Application Note 1 to
§ 4Bl1.1 (which includes conspiracy of-
fenses). U.S.S.G. § 2K2.1 emt. n.1. Adams
argued that the commentary and applica-
tion note impermissibly added to the defi-
nition of “controlled substance offense”
and that the Sentencing Commission’s in-
terpretation of the definition was not enti-
tled to deference.

The district court overruled Adams’ ob-
jection. The court determined that Adams’
advisory guideline range was 70 to 87
months, based on a total offense level of 23
and a criminal history category of IV.
Adams was sentenced to 84 months in
prison and three years of supervised re-
lease.

II. Analysis

Adams raises two issues on appeal. The
first is whether the state search warrant
was supported by probable cause, and, if
not, whether the police acted in good faith
when they executed the warrant. The sec-
ond is whether the district court properly
calculated the advisory guideline range.
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A. Probable Cause and Good Faith

[1-3] When reviewing a search war-
rant, we give “‘great deference’ to the
issuing judge’s determination so long as
the judge had a ‘substantial basis’ for the
finding.” United States v. Miller, 673 F.3d
688, 692-93 (7th Cir. 2012), quoting Iili-
nois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 236, 103 S.Ct.
2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983). Here, that
deference is given to the state-court judge
who issued the search warrant. We give no
deference to (i.e., review de novo) the dis-
trict court’s finding that there was a sub-
stantial basis for issuing the warrant.
United States v. Searcy, 664 F.3d 1119,
1122 (7th Cir. 2011). We also review de
novo whether the good-faith exception ap-
plies to a search warrant later found to be
invalid. United States v. Mitten, 592 F.3d
767, 770-71 (7th Cir. 2010).

[4-7] Probable cause exists when the
circumstances “indicate a reasonable prob-
ability that evidence of crime will be found
in a particular location; neither an absolute
certainty nor even a preponderance of the
evidence is necessary.” United States v.
Aljabari, 626 F.3d 940, 944 (7th Cir. 2010);
see generally Gates, 462 U.S. at 235, 103
S.Ct. 2317. Where, as here, an affidavit is
the only evidence presented to a judge to
support a search warrant, “the validity of
the warrant rests solely on the strength of
the affidavit.” United States v. Bell, 585
F.3d 1045, 1049 (7th Cir. 2009). When an
informant is the source of the information
in an affidavit, “the probable-cause deter-
mination turns on the informant’s credibili-
ty.” United States v. Hansmeier, 867 F.3d
807, 811 (7th Cir. 2017), citing Bell, 585
F.3d at 1049. We consider all relevant
circumstances, including:

first, the degree to which the informant

acquired knowledge of the events

through firsthand observation; second,
the detail and specificity of the informa-
tion provided by the informant; third,

the interval between the date of the
events and a police officer’s application
for the search warrant; and fourth, the
extent to which law enforcement corrob-
orated the informant’s statements.

Searcy, 664 F.3d at 1122; see also United
States v. Glover, 755 F.3d 811, 816 (7th
Cir. 2014) (we consider “the level of detail,
the extent of firsthand observation, the
degree of corroboration, the time between
the events reported and the warrant appli-
cation, and whether the informant ap-
peared or testified before the magis-
trate.”). We consider these factors as a
whole, and “no one factor necessarily
dooms a search warrant.” United States v.
Johnson, 655 F.3d 594, 600 (7th Cir. 2011).

[8] The search warrant here was sup-
ported by probable cause. The affidavit
disclosed Brandon’s name, explained her
close relationship with Adams and her con-
nection to the house, and explained that
she had been in the house earlier that day.
Brandon provided the police with detailed,
firsthand information about the criminal
activity in the house. She described the
handgun by both caliber and make, the
color of the gun case, and the color of the
safe that contained methamphetamine
pipes and possibly methamphetamine and
marijuana. Brandon had a key to the safe
that she gave to the police. Her informa-
tion was corroborated to some extent by
the anonymous tips informing the police
that drug activity was occurring in Adam’
house. It was also corroborated by the fact
that the police had discovered drugs and
paraphernalia in Brandon’s car during the
traffic stop, the fact that Brandon and
Adams were together when they were
pulled over and arrested, and the fact that
Adams had a prior methamphetamine-re-
lated conviction. The police applied for,
received, and executed the search warrant
on the day that Adams and Brandon were
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arrested and Brandon gave them all of the
information, so the information was fresh.

Taking all of these factors into consider-
ation, the affidavit here is stronger than
the one that established probable cause in
United States v. Olson, 408 F.3d 366 (7th
Cir. 2005), where the police had received a
tip four months earlier that the defendant
sold marijuana from his house. The defen-
dant's nephew had been arrested for rob-
bery and aggravated battery. Id. at 369.
During his post-arrest interview, the neph-
ew told police that he had gone to the
defendant’s house to steal his marijuana.
The nephew explained that that he had
seen a pound of marijuana in the defen-
dant’s bedroom just two days earlier, that
he had seen guns in the residence, and
that the defendant had a felony conviction.
The police then reviewed the defendant’s
criminal history, which included multiple
arrests and convictions for drug offenses.
The police included this information in an
affidavit, received a search warrant, and
found over a kilogram of marijuana and
multiple guns in the defendant’s house. /d.
We rejected the defendant’s challenge to
the issuing judge's probable cause deter-
mination, finding that the information the
nephew provided was a “firsthand account”
that was “of sufficient detail, describing
large quantities of marijuana ... as well
as several guns in the residence ... that
he had observed only two days earlier.” /d.
at 370. We also noted that the nephew’s
“admission that he intended to steal drugs
from the defendant constitutes a statement
made against his penal interest, and as
such carries with it a presumption of relia-
bility.” Id. at 871.

Each individual detail in the search war-
rant affidavit for Adams’ house may not
have been sufficient to establish probable
cause by itself, but the details were mutu-
ally reinforcing. The affidavit showed a
“substantial chance” that police could find
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drugs and/or a gun in the house. See Unit-
ed States v. McDuffy, 636 F.3d 361, 363-64
(7th Cir. 2011); Ilinois v. Gates, 462 U.S.
at 245 n.13, 103 S.Ct. 2317 (“probable
cause requires only a probability or sub-
stantial chance of criminal activity”).
Though Adams’ prior conviction may not
have been decisive in establishing probable
cause, it was “still relevant and entitled to
some weight,” as was the fact that the
deputy had found drugs and paraphernalia
in the car when Adams was arrested. See
MecDuffy, 636 F.3d at 364. The totality of
the circumstances here gave the issuing
judge a substantial basis for his probable
cause determination.

[9-11] Even if the search warrant had
not been supported by probable cause, the
deputies were entitled to rely on the war-
rant. It is now well settled that “suppres-
sion of evidence seized pursuant to a
search warrant that is later declared inval-
id is inappropriate if the officers who exe-
cuted the warrant relied in good faith on
the issuing judge’s finding of probable
cause.” United States v. Walts, 535 F.3d
650, 656-57 (Tth Cir. 2008), citing United
States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 924, 104 S.Ct.
3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 (1984). An officer’s
decision to obtain a warrant is prima facie
evidence that the officer was acting in
good faith. United States v. Koerth, 312
F.3d 862, 868 (7th Cir. 2002); United
States v. Reed, 744 F.3d 519, 522 (7th Cir.
2014). A defendant can rebut this pre-
sumption in several ways, including by
showing that “the affidavit submitted in
support of the warrant was ‘so lacking in
indicia of probable cause as to render offi-
cial belief in its existence entirely unrea-
sonable.” ” Olson, 408 F.3d at 372, quoting
Leon, 468 U.S. at 923, 104 S.Ct. 3405.

[12] “Overcoming the presumption of
good faith is no small feat, as an officer
cannot ordinarily be expected to question a
judge’s probable cause determination.”
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United States v. Lickers, 928 F.3d 609, 619
(7th Cir. 2019). Adams cannot overcome
the presumption here. The situation here
does not come close to one in which a
reasonable officer would disregard the
judge’s determination of probable cause
and forgo executing the warrant. This war-
rant had substantial support from the re-
sults of the traffic stop, Adams’ criminal
history, the anonymous tips, and the de-
tailed and fresh information from Brandon.
Thus, even if the warrant had not been
supported by probable cause, the evidence
from the search would still not be sup-
pressed since the deputies acted in good
faith,

B. Sentencing Guidelines

[13] Adams’ second argument on ap-
peal is that the district court erred in
applying the advisory Sentencing Guide-
lines to his case. We review de novo claims
of procedural errors in sentencing, includ-
ing a district court’s legal interpretation of
the Guidelines, such as whether a prior
conviction counts as a “controlled sub-
stance offense.” United States v. Tate, 822
F.3d 370, 375 (7th Cir. 2016).

Adams pleaded guilty to being a felon in
possession of a firearm in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 922(g)(1). Under the Sentencing
Guidelines, a person convicted under
§ 922(g)(1) starts with a base offense level
of 14. See U.S.S.G. § 2K2.1(a)(6). That
level increases to 20 if the defendant has a
prior conviction for a “controlled substance
offense.” See U.S.8.G. § 2K2.1(a)(4). The
term “controlled substance offense” is not
defined in § 2K2.1 itself, but its Applica-
tion Note 1 states that “‘controlled sub-
stance offense’ has the meaning given that
term in § 4B1.2(b) and Application Note 1
of the Commentary to § 4B1.2.”

Section 4B1.2(b) provides in turn:
The term “controlled substance offense”
means an offense under federal or state

law, punishable by imprisonment for a
term exceeding one year, that prohibits
the manufacture, import, export, distri-
bution, or dispensing of a controlled sub-
stance (or a counterfeit substance) or
the possession of a controlled substance
(or a counterfeit substance) with intent
to manufacture, import, export, distrib-
ute, or dispense. '

And Application Note 1 to § 4B1.2 teaches
that “controlled substance offense” in-
cludes “the offenses of aiding and abetting,
conspiring, and attempting to commit such
offenses.”

Adams argues that his Illinois metham-
phetamine conspiracy conviction is not a
“controlled substance offense” because the
text of the Guideline itself does not include
drug conspiracies or other inchoate or at-
tempted drug crimes, and' Application
Note 1 to § 4B1.2 impermissibly adds to
that Guideline’s definition of “controlled
substance offense” by including conspira-
cies and other inchoate drug offenses.
Based on this asserted conflict between
the Guideline and the application note, he
argues that the application note is not
entitled to deference. See generally Stin-
son v. United States, 508 U.S, 36, 43, 113
S.Ct. 1913, 123 L.Ed.2d 598 (1993) (if com-
mentaries such as application notes are
inconsistent with a Guideline, the Guide-
line controls).

In response, the government argues that
there is no conflict between Application
Note 1 to § 4B1.2 and that Guideline’s
definition of “controlled substance of-
fense.” Alternatively, the government ar-
gues that, at the very least, there is no
conflict between the undefined term “con-
trolled substance offense” in § 2K2.1 and
the referenced definition of the term in
that Guideline’s application note. The gov-
ernment contends that the application note
to § 2K2.1 simply explains what is meant
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by “controlled substance offense” within
the meaning of that Guideline.

Adams is arguing one side of a fairly
new circuit split created by United States
v. Winstead, 890 F.3d 1082 (D.C. Cir.
2018). Winstead argued that he received
ineffective assistance of counsel at trial
and at sentencing and that his sentence as
a career criminal was improper. The case
did not concern the Guideline at issue here
(§ 2K2.1) but § 4B1.2 itself. Winstead held
that Application Note 1 to § 4B1.2 imper-
missibly expands the definition of “con-
trolled substance offense” in § 4B1.2 to
include inchoate offenses like conspiracy
and attempt. 830 F.3d at 1090-92. The
D.C. Circuit acknowledged that it was cre-
ating a circuit split on this issue. /d. at
1091, citing United States v. Lange, 862
F.3d 1290, 1294 (11th Cir. 2017); United
States v. Nieves-Borrero, 856 F.3d 5, 9 (1st
Cir. 2017); United States v. Solomon, 592
F. App'x 359, 361 (6th Cir. 2014); United
States v. Chavez, 660 F.3d 1215, 1228 (10th
Cir. 2011); United States v. Mendoza-Fi-
gueroa, 65 F.3d 691 (8th Cir. 1995) (en
banc).

One could distinguish Winstead from
this case on the ground that the applicable
Guideline here is § 2K2.1, not § 4B1.2
itself. Section 2K2.1(a)(4)(A) is drafted dif-
ferently. The Guideline itself refers only to
“a controlled substance offense” and leaves
all definition for its respective application
note. As noted, Application Note 1 says
that “controlled substance offense” “has
the meaning given that term in § 4B1.2(b)
and application Note 1 of the Commentary
to § 4B1.2.” This basis for distinguishing
Winstead, offered by the government here,
may be a reasonable reading of the differ-
ent language in the two Guidelines and
their application notes because Application
Note 1 to § 2K2.1 does not conflict with
the language of § 2K2.1(a)(4) itself.
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On the other hand, that basis for distin-
guishing Winstead would produce two dif-
ferent meanings for the phrase “controlled
substance offense” in two different Guide-
lines, a textual consequence that is at least
awkward. For that reason, the Sixth Cir-
cuit recently extended the reasoning of
Winstead to the issue we face here, in
United States v. Havis, 927 F.3d 382, 386-
87 (6th Cir. 2019) (en banec). In Havis the
defendant pleaded guilty to being a felon
in possession of a firearm and the district
court set his base level at 20 pursuant to
§ 2K2.1. Id. at 383-84. He had a prior
conviction for a crime that could have in-
cluded only the attempted sale of cocaine.
Id. at 384. Attempt crimes are treated like
conspiracies in these guideline provisions.
Even though the Guideline at issue was
§ 2K2.1, the Sixth Circuit focused primari-
ly on the interplay between § 4B1.2 and its
Application Note 1. See id. at 385-87. The
court concluded that Application Note 1 to
§ 4B1.2 impermissibly added attempted
crimes to the definition of “controlled sub-
stance offense” in § 4B1.2. Id. at 386-87.
This conclusion, according to the court,
meant that attempted crimes were just as
impermissibly added to § 2K2.1. Id. In a
footnote, the court wrote:

The Government argues in the alterna-

tive that the real commentary at issue is

Application Note 1 to § 2K2.1, which

cross-references the definition of “con-

trolled substance offense” in Application

Note 1 to § 4B1.2. The Government

never made that argument in the district

court or before the initial panel on ap-
peal and arguably has forfeited its right
to do so now. At any rate, it makes no
difference whether we begin with

§ 2K2.1 to determine the meaning of

“controlled substance offense.” The com-

mentary to § 2K2.1 directs us to apply

“the meaning given that term in

§ 4B1.2(b) and Application Note 1 of the

Commentary to § 4B1.2.” If anything,
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the Government's proposed definition—

which would require us to defer to com-

mentary on other commentary—would
carry an even more tenuous connection
to the guideline’s text.

Id. at 386 n.3.

The Sentencing Commission has re-
sponded to Winstead by proposing an
amendment to § 4B1.2 that would move
the inchoate offense language from the
application note to the text of the Guide-
line as a new subsection (c). See 83 Fed.
Reg. 65400, 65412-15 (Dec. 20, 2018). The
public comment period for this amendment
closed on March 15, 2019. The Sentencing
Commission currently lacks a quorum of
voting members, but this proposed amend-
ment indicates that attempt and conspira-
¢y crimes may be added to the text of the
Guideline itself in the near future, resolv-
ing this circuit split, including the Havis
extension of Winstead to § 2K2.1(a)4).

[14] The Commission’s correction has
not yet taken effect, though, so we need to
decide the legal issue under the current
Guidelines. We conclude that the issue is
governed by our decision in United States
v. Raupp, 677 F.8d 756 (7th Cir. 2012),
where we rejected the textual arguments
that the D.C. Circuit later found persua-
sive in Winstead. In Raupp, the defendant
was convicted of being a felon in posses-
sion of a firearm. His guideline calculation
used § 2K2.1(a)(2) because he had at least
two other convictions for crimes of vio-
lence. One of those prior convictions was
for conspiracy to commit robbery. Among
several arguments, Raupp made the same
textual points that prevailed later in Win-
stead, arguing that Application Note 1 to
§ 4B1.2 could not properly extend the
Guideline to treat conspiracy to commit
robbery as a crime of violence. We square-
ly rejected that argument, holding that the
application note’s inclusion of conspiracy
did not conflict with the text of the Guide-

line itself. “There cannot be a conflict be-
cause the text of § 4B1.2(a) does not tell
us, one or another, whether inchoate of-
fense are included or excluded. The note
says they are included.” 677 F.3d at 759.
We added: “Deciding how to handle con-
spiracy is a question about wise policy, not
about textual conflict.” Id. at 760.

Other portions of the Raupp opinion
addressed the now-abandoned residual
clause of the definition of crimes of vio-
lence in § 4B1.2 and have had a complicat-
ed history as we and the Supreme Court
have struggled with vagueness challenges
to the similar residual clause in the Armed
Career Criminal Act, held unconstitutional
in Johmson v. United States, 576 U.S.
—, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 192 L.Ed.2d 569
(2015). In United States v. Rollins, 836
F.8d 737, 742-43 (7th Cir. 2016), we over-
ruled Raupp's reliance on the residual
clause in the now-advisory § 4B1.2, but our
reasoning in Rollins was based on our
decision in United States v. Hurlburt, 835
F.3d 715 (7th Cir. 2016) (en banc), which
was in turn overruled by the Supreme
Court in Beckles v. United States, 580 U.S.
—— 137 S. Ct. 886, 197 L.Ed.2d 145
(2017), which held that the now-advisory
Guidelines are not subject to vagueness
challenges. The “controlled substance of-
fense” definition at issue here does not
involve any of the complications presented
by the residual clauses in definitions of
violent crimes. The Raupp analysis of this
purely textual issue under § 2K2.1 and
§ 4B1.2 thus remains sound as applied to
the Guidelines’ definitions of controlled
substance offenses. See also D'Antoni v.
United States, 916 F.3d 658, 663-65 (7th
Cir. 2019) (reviewing this history as ap-
plied to defendant sentenced as career of-
fender under then-mandatory Guidelines,
using conviction for conspiraey to kill gov-
ernment witness as prior crime of vio-
lence).
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Following this surviving portion of
Raupp, as applied to inchoate controlled
substance offenses, we find no error in the
district court’s decision to treat Adams as
a career offender under the Sentencing
Guidelines.

The distriet court’s judgment is AF-
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Background: Owners of cats with health
problems for which their veterinarians
prescribed higher-priced “prescription” cat
food brought proposed state-court class ac-
tion against pet-food manufacturer and
pet-food retailer, asserting claims under
the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Decep-
tive Business Practices Act (ICFA) and for
unjust enrichment. Following removal to
federal court, defendants moved to dis-
miss. The United States District Court for
the Northern District of Illinois, Samuel
Der-Yeghiayan, J., 2017 WL 5896886,
granted motion, and plaintiffs appealed.
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Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Sykes,
Circuit Judge, held that:

(1) ICFA’s safe harbor for conduct specifi-
cally authorized by a regulatory body
did not apply to the conduct alleged
here, and so did not bar plaintiffs’
ICFA claim;

(2) the complaint pleaded a deceptive-prac-
tices claim with the requisite degree of
particularity; and

(3) plaintiffs’ request for restitution based
on unjust enrichment was not a sepa-
rate cause of action, but was tied to the
consumer-fraud claim, and could move
forward.

Reversed.

1. Federal Courts ¢=3578

Court of Appeals reviews district
court dismissal orders de novo.

2. Federal Civil Procedure ¢&=1772

To survive a motion to dismiss, the
complaint must contain factual content
that allows the court to draw the reason-
able inference that the defendant is liable
for the misconduct alleged. Fed. R. Civ,
P. 12(b)(6).

3. Federal Civil Procedure 1772

To survive a motion to dismiss, the
complaint, at a minimum, must give
enough details about the subject matter of
the case to present a story that holds
together. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

4. Antitrust
=134

Illinois Consumer Fraud and Decep-
tive Business Practices Act (ICFA) pro-
tects consumers against fraud, unfair
methods of competition, and other unfair
and deceptive business practices. 815 Ill.
Comp. Stat. Ann. 505/1 et seq.

and Trade Regulation
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